6

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Horry County  
Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CALVIN SOLOMON BARR

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-001367

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

LARA M. CAUDY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
P.O. Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED  
FEB 14 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Did the trial judge err by refusing to direct a verdict when the state failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant was knowingly in constructive possession of the drugs found in his wife's home where the evidence established Appellant merely had a right to access the area where the drugs were found, not actual dominion and control over the property?

2.

Did the trial judge err by instructing the jury on the dictionary definitions of "dominion" and "control" as these words relate to constructive possession when the instruction was erroneous and lowered the burden necessary for the jury to find Appellant guilty, as under this charge, Appellant merely had to have the right to use the property where the illegal substances were found to satisfy the element of constructive possession, which conflicts with our Supreme Court's holding in State v. Heath, 370 S.C. 326, 635 S.E.2d 18 (2006), stating that mere access to the property is insufficient to establish constructive possession?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Horry County Grand Jury indicted Appellant on September 17, 2015 for possession of marijuana with intent to distribute, possession of heroin with intent to distribute, and possession of cocaine. R. 233. His case was called to trial on April 19, 2016 before the Honorable Larry B. Hyman, and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Solicitors David Caraker and Gray Ervin represented the state, and Stuart Axelrod and Jeffrey Lucas represented Appellant. R. 1.

On April 21, 2016, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. R. 222, l. 18 – 223, l. 9. He was sentenced to fifteen years for possession of heroin with intent to distribute, five years for possession of marijuana with intent to distribute, and five years for possession of cocaine. All sentenced were ordered to be served concurrently. R. 230, ll. 4-17 (June 13, 2016).

This appeal follows.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 9, 2014, Dwight Tomlin, a uniform patrol officer with the Myrtle Beach Police Department, responded to 206 Maple Street in Myrtle Beach in response to a complaint made by Appellant's wife, Nicole Barr, who rented the residence. R. 13, l. 22 – 14, l. 18. Appellant and Barr had only been married for a few months and were having significant marital difficulties. R. 124, ll. 4-20. According to Barr, she complained to the police earlier that morning that Appellant had physically assaulted her. R. 124, l. 16 – 125, l. 4. She sought to have him arrested for criminal domestic violence. R. 124, l. 16 – 125, l. 4. Law enforcement, however, claimed Barr alleged “there was possible narcotics activity” at the home.<sup>1</sup> R. 14, ll. 12-18; R. 18, ll. 4-10; R. 29, ll. 13-17.

When Officer Tomlin arrived at 206 Maple Street, he knocked on the front door. No one answered. He called Barr and demanded she return to the home. R. 14, l. 19 – 15, l. 7. When Barr arrived, she unlocked the front door and allowed Officer Tomlin inside. R. 14, l. 19 – 15, l. 16. Tomlin, who had an arrest warrant for Appellant for criminal domestic violence based on Barr's complaint, found Appellant lying on the bed in one of the two bedrooms in the home. He was immediately arrested. R. 18, l. 14 – 19, l. 3.

Tomlin claimed that while he was arresting Appellant, he observed in plain sight numerous small plastic bags, a scale, a razor blade, and a wad of cash in the bedroom. R. 19, ll. 2-24. The home was also equipped with “some type of after market surveillance system.” R. 21, ll. 15-19. Based on these observations, Tomlin suspected “some type of drug use” was going on

---

<sup>1</sup> Barr vehemently denied telling law enforcement that Appellant was selling drugs out of her home. R. 132, ll. 2-14. She testified that she went to the police department on August 9, 2014 to file a domestic violence complaint. R. 132, l. 14 – 133, l. 13.

inside the home. R. 20, ll. 4-13. He notified his supervisor who in turn notified the investigations division. Investigator Stephen Thackray responded to the home. R. 26, ll. 17-24.

Officer Tomlin walked Investigator Thackray through the house and showed him the evidence he found to be suspicious inside the residence. R. 26, l. 25 – 27, l. 15; R. 44, l. 12 – 45, l. 11. Thackray then obtained a search warrant based on the evidence allegedly found in plain view. R. 45, ll. 12-22.

During the execution of the search warrant, law enforcement found heroin, cocaine, and marijuana in a backpack in the laundry room. They also found additional scales, plastic bags, razor blades, and other drug related items in the laundry room. R. 49, l. 15 – 50, l. 9; R. 53, l. 1 – 54, l. 8; R. 65, l. 23 – 67, l. 5.

It was later determined that nearly two thousand dollars in cash was found inside the home, along with 196.6 grams of marijuana, over 0.22 grams of heroin, and 0.42 grams of cocaine. R. 55, ll. 6-10; R. 91, ll. 8-13; R. 104, ll. 6-24. Significantly, no drugs were found in the bedroom where Appellant was arrested or on his person. R. 70, ll. 12-16.

Nicole Barr, Appellant's wife, admitted that in August 2014, she and Appellant "were having marital problems" and "weren't really together." Appellant was unfaithful and had fathered a child with another woman. R. 124, l. 16 – 125, l. 9. Barr was the sole renter of the house located at 206 Maple Street, her name was the only name on the lease and all the associated bills, and she paid all the expenses related to the home, including the water, electricity, and cable. R. 146, ll. 12-21. While Appellant stayed at the house "off and on," he was "never a full time resident" and was rarely at the home. R. 125, ll. 8-15.

In addition to her three children who lived in the home, Barr occasionally rented out the second bedroom. R. 125, l. 16 – 126, l. 2. One of her tenants was Basheba Worrell, who worked

as an entertainer or dancer.<sup>2</sup> Worrell rented the second bedroom in the home for approximately two months until she suddenly disappeared. Barr had not heard from Worrell since she left, but later learned Worrell had been arrested and jailed for various drugs related offenses. R. 125, l. 16 – 126, l. 21. When Worrell disappeared, she left behind several possessions, including clothing and a backpack. R. 126, l. 7 – 127, l. 3. This backpack, which was in the laundry room, is where the police found the heroin, marijuana, and cocaine. R. 127, l. 25 – 128, l. 2.

Barr also testified that the scale and small plastic bags found in the bedroom where Appellant was arrested were hers. She liked to make jewelry, which she then sold to friends or over the internet. She used the plastic bags to store and organize beads and the scale to weigh the gold or silver jewelry to determine how much it was worth and how much to sell it for. R. 127, ll. 4-24.

Barr did not know there were drugs in her home or that Appellant had been arrested for drug related offenses until the following day when she attended Appellant's bond hearing, which she thought was only for the criminal domestic violence warrant. During the bond hearing, when the prosecution described the backpack where the drugs were found, Barr knew immediately that it belonged to Basheba Worrell. However, she did not initially come forward with this information because she wanted Appellant to remain incarcerated so that she had time to move. R. 127, l. 25 – 128, l. 25.

Barr eventually spoke to Assistant Solicitor David Caraker, who was assigned to prosecute the case. She told the solicitor that the backpack where the drugs were found belonged to Basheba Worrell and not Appellant. However, the solicitor merely laughed at her and told her to talk to Appellant's attorney. R. 130, l. 10 – 131, l. 4.

---

<sup>2</sup> The assistant solicitor later made Barr clarify that Worrell was a stripper. R. 133, ll. 17-25.

After several hours of deliberation, the jury ultimately convicted Appellant as indicted.

R. 222, l. 18 – 223, l. 9.

## ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred by refusing to direct a verdict when the state failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant was knowingly in constructive possession of the drugs found in his wife's home where the evidence established Appellant merely had a right to access the area where the drugs were found, not actual dominion and control over the property.

### **How the Issue was Presented Below**

At the conclusion of the state's case in chief, Appellant moved for a directed verdict. Defense counsel argued the state had failed to present any evidence of possession, which is a material element of all three indicted offenses. R. 111, l. 9 – 112, l. 7. Citing State v. Heath, 370 S.C. 326, 635 S.E.2d 18 (2006), counsel asserted that in order to prove constructive possession, the state must show the defendant had dominion and control, or the right to exercise dominion and control, over the illegal substance. He also made clear that mere presence is insufficient to prove constructive possession. R. 112, ll. 8-19. Counsel argued that while some circumstantial evidence was presented, there was absolutely no evidence of constructive possession. R. 113, l. 16 – 114, l. 5. He asserted that the evidence merely established Appellant had a right to access the home, which pursuant to Heath, was insufficient to prove Appellant had dominion and control, or the right to exercise dominion and control, over the property. R. 116, ll. 2-10.

In response, the assistant solicitor admitted the state was relying on constructive possession. He maintained the state had shown Appellant lived at the house. R. 116, ll. 23-25. This assertion was based on the fact that 206 Maple Street is the address that appeared on Appellant's driver's license as well as the "bond paperwork" when Appellant posted bond for the charges for which he was on trial. R. 116, l. 25 – 118, l. 5. The solicitor ultimately argued, "He

[Appellant] lived there, we are responsible for what goes on in our house. If we don't have dominion and control over our own house, we don't have dominion and control over anything." R. 118, ll. 6-12. The solicitor essentially argued that because Appellant lived at the home, he was in constructive possession of the drugs found in the laundry room.

The trial judge ultimately denied the motion. He found this case distinguishable from Heath and ruled there was "sufficient evidence [from] which the jury could reasonably infer that the defendant was in constructive possession of these drugs." R. 120, ll. 11-17. He later commented, "My only question here is whether or not taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, whether there's *any evidence* upon which the jury could base a conviction. And I think there is." R. 122, ll. 6-10 (emphasis added). The judge appeared to base his ruling on the fact that Appellant was the only person at the house when law enforcement arrived and was found in a bedroom near "drug related materials." R. 115, l. 2 – 116, l. 21. He also commented that he had not "heard any testimony about who else . . . lived" at the house. R. 115, ll. 11-12.

Appellant properly renewed his motion for a directed verdict after his presentation of evidence. R. 148, l. 18 – 149, l. 12. While the judge admitted there was now evidence through the testimony of Nicole Barr that someone else lived in the home, there was no evidence as to "when anybody else lived in the house." R. 149, ll. 13-17. In the light most favorable to the state, the judge found the evidence "certainly meets the threshold to allow the case to go to the jury." R. 149, ll. 17-20.

Appellant also renewed his motion after the state presented several rebuttal witnesses. The judge continued to deny the motion. R. 176, l. 19 – 177, l. 4.

## Discussion

The trial judge erred by denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict when the state failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant was knowingly in constructive possession of the drugs found in the backpack in the laundry room at 206 Maple Street. The evidence established Appellant merely had a right to access the area where the drugs were found, not actual dominion and control over the property, which is required to prove constructive possession.

A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the prosecution fails to provide evidence of the offense charged. State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011) (citing State v. McHoney, 344 S.C. 85, 97, 544 S.E.2d 30, 36 (2001)). "If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, an appellate court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury." State v. Lollis, 343 S.C. 580, 584, 541 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001) (citing State v. Pinckney, 339 S.C. 346, 349, 529 S.E.2d 526, 527 (2000)). When the prosecution relies exclusively on circumstantial evidence, the trial judge must direct a verdict in the defendant's favor unless there is *substantial* circumstantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the defendant or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced. State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776 (2011) (citing State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000)).

Likewise, a directed verdict is proper when the evidence produced "merely raises a suspicion the accused is guilty." Lollis, 343 S.C. at 584, 541 S.E.2d at 256 (citing State v. Martin, 340 S.C. 597, 533 S.E.2d 572 (2000); State v. Arnold, 361 S.C. 386, 390, 605 S.E.2d 529, 531 (2004); State v. Schrock, 283 S.C. 129, 132, 322 S.E.2d 450, 452 (1984)). Our courts define suspicion as "a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount

to proof.” Lollis, 343 S.C. at 584, 541 S.E.2d at 256 (citing State v. Hyder, 242 S.C. 372, 131 S.E.2d 96 (1963)).

Appellant was indicted for possession of marijuana with intent to distribute in violation of § 44-53-370(b)(2), possession of heroin with intent to distribute in violation of § 44-53-370(b)(1), and possession of cocaine in violation of § 44-53-370(d)(3). Section 44-53-370 provides in relevant part:

- (a) [I]t shall be unlawful for any person:
  - (1) to manufacture, distribute, dispense, deliver, purchase, aid, abet, attempt, or conspire to manufacture, distribute, dispense, deliver, or purchase, or *possess with intent to manufacture, distribute, dispense, deliver, or purchase a controlled substance*. . .
- (b) A person who violates subsection (a) with respect to:
  - (1) a controlled substance classified in Schedule I (b) and (c) which is a narcotic drug or lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD) and in Schedule II which is a narcotic drug is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, for a first offense must be imprisoned not more than fifteen years or fined not more than twenty-five thousand dollars, or both. For a second offense, the offender must be imprisoned not less than five years nor more than thirty years, or fined not more than fifty thousand dollars, or both.
  - (2) any other controlled substance classified in Schedule I, II, or III, or flunitrazepam or a controlled substance analogue, is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, for a first offense must be imprisoned not more than five years or fined not more than five thousand dollars, or both.
- (c) It shall be unlawful for any person *knowingly or intentionally to possess* a controlled substance unless the substance was obtained directly from, or pursuant to a valid prescription or order of, a practitioner while acting in the course of his professional practice, or except as otherwise authorized by this article.
- (d) A person who violates subsection (c) with respect to:
  - (2) cocaine is guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction, must be imprisoned not more than three years or fined not more than five thousand dollars, or both . . . For a second offense, the offender is guilty of a felony

and, upon conviction, must be imprisoned not more than five years or fined not more than seven thousand five hundred dollars, or both.

(emphasis added)

The state does not dispute that Appellant was not in *actual* possession of the marijuana, heroin, and cocaine. At the directed verdict stage, the assistant solicitor admitted the state was relying on constructive possession. R. 116, ll. 23-24. He also asserted during his opening statement:

No one is going to get up on the stand and testify that they saw the Defendant sell drugs, not going to happen. No one is going to get up on the witness stand and testify that they saw it in his hands. We'll testify it was in his house.

So you're going to hear some stuff about constructive possession and circumstantial evidence. And when the judge talks to you about that, think about this, constructive possession means that you have control over the premises where the drugs were found; his house, his responsibility, his control. That is the right thing to do.

R. 6, ll. 10-21.

Accordingly, the state had to prove Appellant was knowingly in constructive possession of the illegal substances.

“Mere presence is insufficient to prove constructive possession.” State v. Heath, 370 S.C. 326, 329, 635 S.E.2d 18, 19 (2006) (citing State v. Tabory, 260 S.C. 355, 364, 196 S.E.2d 111, 113 (1973)). In order to prove constructive possession, the state must show a defendant had dominion and control, or the right to exercise dominion and control over the illegal substance. Id. (citing State v. Halyard, 274 S.C. 397, 400, 264 S.E.2d 841, 842 (1980)). The state may establish constructive possession by either direct or circumstantial evidence. Id. “The defendant’s knowledge and possession may be inferred if the substance was found on premises under his *control*.” Id. at 329-330, 635 S.E.2d at 19 (citing State v. Adams, 291 S.C. 132, 135, 352 S.E.2d 483, 486 (1987)) (emphasis in original).

In Heath, our Supreme Court held the evidence presented was insufficient to establish Heath was in constructive possession of crack cocaine and consequently directed a verdict of acquittal in his favor. Heath, 370 S.C. at 328, 635 S.E.2d at 18. Heath lived in a house with his mother and a young child. His mother owned the house. Id. at 328, 635 S.E.2d at 18. Law enforcement obtained a warrant to search in and around the house for crack cocaine. Id. When officers arrived to execute the search warrant, Heath and his brother were outside in front of the house. It appeared Heath had just finished washing his car. Id. Upon the officers' arrival, Heath's brother ran inside the house and locked himself in a bathroom. Id. at 328, 635 S.E.2d at 19. Officers ultimately found crack cocaine, numerous plastic baggies (allegedly the type used by crack dealers), scales, and twenty five hundred dollars in cash inside the home. Id. Additionally, a police dog discovered a car washing mitt in a recycling bin near the back door of the house containing 43.48 grams of crack cocaine. Id. at 329, 635 S.E.2d at 19.

The Supreme Court held the state presented no direct or substantial circumstantial evidence linking Heath to the crack cocaine. Id. at 330, 635 S.E.2d at 19. The Court further held the state failed to present evidence Heath could exercise dominion and control over the area where the crack was found. Id. In so holding, the Court noted that, while Heath lived in the home where the crack was found, the home was owned by his mother. Id. As a result, the Court concluded, “[I]t was arguable that [Heath] *merely had a right to access the area where the crack was found, not actual dominion and control of the property.*” Id. (emphasis added).

This Court should likewise hold there was no evidence Appellant, while he had access to the area where the illegal substances were found, had actual dominion and control of the property, or the right to exercise dominion and control over the property. The evidence established Appellant merely stayed at the house where the drugs were found “off and on”

indicating he was more of an infrequent overnight guest as opposed to a resident. Nicole Barr testified that she and Appellant “weren’t really together” and that Appellant was rarely at the house. Significantly, there were no drugs found in the bedroom where Appellant was arrested or on his person.

Even if Appellant lived at the home, the state presented no direct or substantial circumstantial evidence linking Appellant to the marijuana, heroin, and cocaine found in the backpack in the laundry room. The assistant solicitor argued in opening statement, at the directed verdict stage, and in closing argument that simply because Appellant lived at the home, he must be in constructive possession of the drugs. This argument directly conflicts with the Supreme Court’s holding in Heath where the Court found that despite the fact that Heath lived in the home owned by his mother, the evidence established he merely had access to the area where the drugs were found, not actual dominion and control of the property. Heath, 370 S.C. at 330, 635 S.E.2d at 19. Again, the same is true in this case. While there was evidence Appellant had access to the laundry room where the drugs were found, there was absolutely no evidence he had dominion and control of the property.

Because the state failed to establish an essential element of the crime charged, constructive possession, respectfully, this Court should reverse Appellant’s convictions and direct a verdict in his favor.

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