ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
The Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-001367

---

THE STATE,

v.

CALVIN SOLOMON BARR,

RECEIVED  
FEB 08 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

Respondent,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. SCOTT MATTHEWS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON  
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Drawer 1276  
Conway, SC 29526  
(843)-915-5460

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

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

## ARGUMENT

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal, because the State allegedly failed to produce substantial circumstantial evidence of Appellant's constructive possession of drugs found in his home. However, the State produced evidence Appellant lived in the home and that Appellant was the only person present in the home when drugs were found by law enforcement. Furthermore, the State presented evidence that scales, razor blades, two thousand dollars in cash, and black plastic baggies, all items typically used in distributing drugs, were found in Appellant's bedroom. (R. 19, 44-45, 55). When considered in the light most favorable to the State, the evidence presented by the State amounts to substantial circumstantial evidence to warrant consideration by a jury. Appellant also contends the trial judge erred in instructing the jury on the definitions of "dominion" and "control." Appellant contends that in doing so, the trial judge lowered the burden necessary for the jury to find Appellant guilty. The trial judge properly provided additional clarification, because the definitions of "dominion" and "control" adequately covered the correct law and did not shift the burden of proof to Appellant or lower the burden of proof for the State.

### I.

**The trial judge properly refused to direct a verdict for Appellant when the State produced substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant was in constructive possession of drugs that were found in his home, when Appellant was the only occupant of the house, and items used for the distribution of drugs were found in Appellant's bedroom.**

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in failing to grant a directed verdict for Appellant. Specifically, Appellant contends the State did not produce substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant was in constructive possession of drugs. However, substantial circumstantial evidence of Appellant's constructive possession was presented at trial to justify the denial of Appellant's directed verdict motion and submission of the case to the jury.

In determining whether a directed verdict should be granted, a trial judge shall consider “only the existence or non-existence of the evidence and not its weight.” Rule 19 SCRCrimP, State v. Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 235, 781 S.E.2d 352, 353 (2016). When reviewing a denial of a directed verdict at the trial level, the appellate court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Rowell, 326 S.C. 313, 487 S.E.2d 185 (1997). If there is any direct evidence or *any* substantial circumstantial evidence tending to prove the guilt of the accused, then the case was properly submitted to the jury. State v. Kelsey, 331 S.C. 50, 62, 502 S.E.2d 63, 69 (1998) (emphasis added). When the State relies on circumstantial evidence, “the court must determine whether the evidence presented is sufficient to allow a reasonable juror to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.” Bennett 415 S.C. at 237, 781 S.E.2d at 354. If the State presents any evidence which reasonably tends to prove defendant’s guilt, or from which defendant’s guilt could be fairly and logically deduced, the case must go to the jury. State v. Burdette, 335 S.C. 34, 515 S.E.2d 525 (1999).

Appellant primarily relies on State v. Heath, 370 S.C. 326, 635 S.E.2d 18 (2006), to argue the trial judge erred in denying his motion for directed verdict. However, the current case before this Court differs substantially from Heath. In Heath, the house at issue was owned by Heath’s mother. Id. at 328, 635 S.E.2d at 18. When police arrived at the house, Heath was outside in front of the house with his brother. Id. Inside the home, police discovered crack cocaine, scales, plastic baggies, and approximately two thousand five hundred dollars in cash. Id. at 328, 635 S.E.2d at 19. Most significantly, police also discovered 43.48 grams of crack cocaine in a car washing mitt in a recycling bin outside near the back door of the house. Id. at 329, 635 S.E.2d at 19. The Supreme Court ruled: “it is arguable that Appellant merely had a right to

access the area where the crack was found, not actual dominion and control over the property.”

Id. at 330, 635 S.E.2d at 19.

The facts in the current case differ substantially from Heath. Here, law enforcement responded to a complaint by Appellant’s wife that he was selling drugs out of the home. (R. 14). The drugs were found in Appellant’s home when Appellant was the only occupant in the home. (R. 18-19, 151). Black plastic baggies with gold skulls, scales, razor blades, and nearly two thousand dollars in cash were found in Appellant’s bedroom next to the bed where Appellant was lying. (R. 19, 44). Each of these facts contrasts with the facts presented in Heath. In Heath, the majority of the drugs were found in a recycling bin outside the home. Id. at 329, 635 S.E.2d at 19. Heath was not inside the home when law enforcement arrived, nor was he the only person present at the residence. Id. at 328, 635 S.E.2d at 18. Crack cocaine along with items associated with the distribution of drugs were found inside the residence, but not with any immediate connection to Heath. Id. at 328, 635 S.E.2d at 19. There was arguably a greater connection between the drugs and Heath’s brother, who ran inside the house and locked himself in a bathroom when police arrived. The facts of the current case therefore, are entirely different from Heath.

The facts presented in this case are more analogous to those presented in State v. Muhammed, 338 S.C. 22, 524 S.E.2d 637 (Ct. App. 1999). In Muhammed, this Court concluded that Muhammed’s directed verdict motion was properly denied, because the State produced sufficient evidence to establish that Muhammed had constructive possession of cocaine. Id. at 27, 524 S.E.2d at 639-40. The State presented evidence from an informant that Muhammed and a co-defendant had approached him about a drug deal. Id. The informant gave police information about the car Muhammed was driving and the house where he was staying. Police searched

Muhammed's bedroom and his car. Police found a razor blade, cash, telephone equipment, and pagers inside Muhammed's car. Id. at 28, 524 S.E.2d at 640. Law enforcement also located 19.7 grams of crack cocaine in a shoe box within Muhammed and co-defendant's bedroom. Id. at 25, 524 S.E.2d at 638. The owner of the house testified that Muhammed and his co-defendant had been visiting for two days prior to the incident, had placed a lock on the bedroom door for which Muhammed had a key, and one of them had carried a shoe box into the bedroom. Id. at 28, 524 S.E.2d at 640.

The evidence presented here to establish constructive possession is greater than the evidence presented by the State in Muhammed. Like in Muhammed, this case began with a complaint of drug dealing. The complaint in Muhammed brought police to a location, where Muhammed had been visiting for a couple of days. Id. However, the complaint here brought police to a location where Appellant had been living long enough to have the address listed on his driver's license and on his bond paperwork. In Muhammed, police found items associated with drug dealing in Muhammed's car. Id. Here, police found similar items in Appellant's bedroom adjacent to where Appellant was sleeping. In Muhammed, Muhammed was one of two people present at the residence when law enforcement arrived. Id. at 25, 524 S.E.2d at 638. Here, Appellant was the only person in the residence when police arrived. (R. 18-19, 151). When comparing the two cases, it is clear the State presented a greater amount of evidence of constructive possession in this case than in a case this Court previously ruled was sufficient to send to a jury.

When viewed in the light most favorable to the State, the State produced enough evidence at trial to prove Appellant had more than mere access to the area where drugs were found. The State showed that Appellant lived at the residence by presenting a copy of

Appellant's bond paperwork listing Appellant's address as 206 Maple Street. (R. 110). The State also presented testimony that 206 Maple Street was the address on Appellant's driver's license. (R. 38). Moreover, Appellant was the only individual inside the house when law enforcement arrived. (R. 18-19, 151). Not only was Appellant the only person in his home when drugs were found, Appellant was sleeping immediately adjacent to an open dresser where items associated with drug distribution were found. (R. 19, 44-45). Certainly Appellant's close proximity to drug distribution material, the complaint of drug distribution made against Appellant by his wife, and Appellant being the only occupant of the house is enough evidence from which Appellant's guilt could be fairly and logically deduced by a reasonable juror. When viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the State produced substantial circumstantial evidence of Appellant's guilt. Thus, it was proper for the trial judge to submit this case to the jury. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

## II.

**The trial judge properly instructed the jury on the definitions of "dominion" and "control", because the jury asked for clarification of these terms, and because, when read as a whole, the instruction adequately covered the correct law and did not relieve the State of their burden of proof or shift the burden to Appellant.**

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in instructing the jury on the definitions of "dominion" and "control", because the definitions lowered the burden necessary for the jury to find Appellant guilty. In analyzing Appellant's claim, it is instructive to review the jury instruction given by the trial judge and to identify the specific portion Appellant takes issue with.

The trial judge told the jury:

Constructive possession means that the Defendant had dominion and control or the right to exercise dominion and control over either the heroin itself or the property on which the heroin was found. Mere presence at the scene where the drugs were found is not enough to prove possession. The Defendant's knowledge

and possession may be inferred when a substance is found on the property under Defendant's control.

(R. 209, lines 14-22)<sup>2</sup>. Appellant concedes that this initial instruction given by the trial judge was appropriate. The only exception Appellant takes to this instruction is the trial judge's subsequent clarification of the meaning of the words "dominion" and "control". After being asked by the jury for clarification on these terms, the trial judge provided the following definition: "**The word dominion as used in my charge means the power, authority, or right to use or dispose of property or a thing. Control means to have power over a thing.**" (Supp. R. 1, lines 15-18). By providing the jury these definitions, Appellant contends the trial judge somehow reduced the State's burden to only require the State to prove Appellant had mere access to the property, thereby contradicting our Supreme Court's ruling in Heath<sup>3</sup>.

The purpose of a jury instruction is "to enlighten the jury and to aid it in arriving at a correct verdict." State v. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 273 (1987). "A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law." State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 697 S.E.2d 578 (2010) (*quoting State v. Adkins*, 353 S.C. 312, 318, 577 S.E.2d 460, 464 (Ct. App. 2003)) A jury charge that is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal. Mattison at 478, 697 S.E.2d at 583. "Jury instructions must be considered as a whole and, if as a whole, they are free from error, any isolated portions which might be misleading do not constitute reversible error." State v. Jackson, 297 S.C. 523, 526, 377 S.E.2d 570, 572 (1989).

---

<sup>2</sup> Immediately prior to this instruction, the trial judge instructed the jury: "to prove possession, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant had both the power and the intent to control the disposition or use of the heroin." (R. 209, lines 7-10)

<sup>3</sup> Heath does not address any issues relating to jury instructions. The only issue addressed in Heath was whether a directed verdict should have been granted by the trial judge.

Here, the jury charge given by the trial judge was proper, because it adequately covered the law, it did not shift the burden of proof to Appellant, nor did it lower the burden of proof for the State. At the heart of Appellant's complaint is the assertion that a jury instruction requiring Appellant to have "the power, authority, or right to use or dispose of property" is somehow equivalent to Appellant merely having access to a property. The words "power", "authority", and "right to use or dispose" clearly imply a greater degree of control over an item than just mere access. These words state plainly that Appellant had to be able to do something with the drugs, not just have access to where they were. The trial judge never used the words "access" or "mere access." However, the trial judge did explain that mere presence was not sufficient. "Mere presence" is certainly more analogous to "mere access" than having "power" or "authority" over something, and the trial judge clearly stated that mere presence was not enough. These definitions do not lower the burden of the State or mislead the jury. When taken as a whole, the trial judge's jury instruction clearly required the State to prove that Appellant had a greater control over the drugs than just mere access.

Even assuming, for the sake of argument, that the trial judge's instructions did not adequately cover the law or were misleading in some way, the instruction did not shift the burden of proof to Appellant or away from the State. The trial judge clearly instructed the jury regarding the State's burden:

Now, the Defendant has plead not guilty to these indictments, and that puts the burden on the State to prove the Defendant guilty. A person charged with committing a criminal offense in South Carolina is never required to prove himself innocent. I charge you that it is an important rule of the law that the Defendant in a criminal trial, no matter what the seriousness of the charge may be, will always be presumed to be innocent of the crime for which the indictment was issued unless guilt has been proved by evidence satisfying you of that guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

(R. 203-4, lines 23-9). Nothing in the trial judge's instruction or in the State's closing argument shifted this burden to Appellant or required anything less of the State.

Improper burden shifting has previously been found in cases where the trial judge made an erroneous instruction to the jury that implied a defendant must prove something. In State v. Attardo, 263 S.C. 546, 211 S.E.2d 868 (1975), our Supreme Court found that a trial judge improperly shifted the burden to a defendant when the court instructed the jury: "But, normally where a person is in possession of contraband, there is a factual presumption that he knows what it is, and the burden is then on him to prove that he did not have actual knowledge." Id. at 549, 211 S.E.2d at 869. Additionally, our Supreme Court has cautioned trial courts against using any kind of language in a jury charge which creates a mandatory presumption of guilt against defendants. See Lowry v. State, 376 S.C. 499, 657 S.E.2d 760 (2008).

In Appellant's case, the trial judge's clarification on the meaning of two words did not shift the burden of proof to Appellant or decrease the burden on the State. The trial judge never deviated from his initial remarks on the burden of proof, and he never said the State had anything less to prove. Because the instructions of the trial court adequately covered the law and were not misleading, Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.